The Palatines and the Embury Heck Memorial Church in Ballingrane 

In 1709 refugees came from the Rhineland Palatinate, forced to leave their homes by continuous wars and a very severe winter when their crops perished.  They were settled in Ireland – the greatest number in the Rathkeale area.  The history of the Irish Palatines and Methodism in this area is so entwined as to be one in many people’s minds.
The story of the Irish Palatines is part of an eighteenth century mass exodus of 10,000 who left the Lower Palatinate in Germany and arrived in London in early 1709 under the auspices of Queen Anne and the English government.  About 3,000 of these people were recruited into the British Army and Navy for service in the British colonies, and a further 3,000 approximately were settled along the Hudson River and in the Carolinas and the West Indies.  The remainder of approximately 3,000 was destined for Ireland, and in late summer 1709, 821 families or 3,093 people had landed in Dublin, and were later settled in the capital and around the countryside.   Some returned to Germany, others settled in England, and by 1720 there were 100 Palatines families on the Southwell estate in the Rathkeale area, 50 of these being in Ballingrane. 
The majority of these Palatines were Lutheran and the rest were of the Reformed Church.  It was reported in 1712 that all the Palatines had conformed to the Established Church;  they had a prayer book in German and English, and representations were made for a German minister to be appointed.  Whether they were primarily adherents of the Lutheran faith or of the Church of Ireland, religion seems not to have been of much importance to the Palatines in the early years.  In the oft-quoted words of Rev. John Wesley they had become eminent for drunkenness, cursing, swearing and an utter neglect of religion.
  It appears that no appointment of a German minister was made, and when Rev. John Wesley visited the Palatine settlements in county Limerick, he found that the colonists had been without a minister for a long time, and they eagerly embraced his non-conformist Methodism.
   John Wesley visited Ireland on 21 occasions and on 14 of these itineraries he visited the Palatine colonies of county Limerick. An entry in his journal describes his first visit to Ballingrane on 16 June 1752.  He noted that the people retained much of their temper and manner of their own country having no resemblance to those among whom they lived, he noted a highly spiritual aspect to this plain artless serious people.  The Palatines built a preaching house in each of the original settlements and in some of the secondary settlements.  
There were two local preachers among the Palatines, one was Philip Guier, the schoolmaster at Ballingrane and leader of the community there, and the second was Philip Embury, a carpenter.  As numbers in the original colonies increased, they needed more land and secondary settlements were established in other parts of Limerick, in Kerry, Kilcooley, Old Ross. 
	A group also left for America in 1760.  This group went on the ship Pery from Limerick under Captain Hogan.  The voyage took sixty-three days, and there were only forty passengers on board, so these passengers in 1760 suffered less discomfort than did many emigrants in the days of the sailing ships.  The list of passengers on the Pery accounts for twenty-four of the forty passengers.  It is likely that the others were also from the Southwell estate.
  It can be seen from the list that Philip Embury was accompanied by his three brothers;  there was no remaining Embury family in the original settlements.


In 1766 Barbara Ruttle Heck urged her cousin, Philip Embury, to begin preaching.  Thus began Methodism in North America.  Some of the Palatines moved to the Camden Valley in New York State, and after the American War of Independence, they settled in Canada in what is now Ontario.  Barbara Heck died in Prescott in 1804.  She had promoted the establishment of Methodism in New York city, New York state and Ontario,

Meanwhile, back in Ireland, the church in Ballingrane was built in 1766, renovated in 1885 and 1966.  It is the only surviving Methodist place of worship in the original Palatine settlements of county Limerick. In 2016 250 years of witness and worship at the church was celebrated.
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